











# SPARKPOINT PROGRAMMING DURING COVID-19:

# An Assessment of the Health-Wealth Connection

Helen Guo, MPH, Jacqueline Chan, MPH United Way Bay Area, December 2020



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments	3
About United Way Bay Area	3
Executive Summary	4
1. Introduction	6
1.1 About SparkPoint	6
1.2 Research Aims	7
2. Background	8
2.1 The Health-Wealth Connection	8
2.2 Health Impacts of Economic Mobility Interventions	10
3. Methods	12
3.1 Participant Recruitment	12
3.2 Data Collection	12
3.3 Data Analysis	13
3.4 Limitations	13
4. Results	14
4.1 Prior SparkPoint Evaluations	14
4.2 The Health-Wealth Connection in SparkPoint Programming	16
4.2.1 SparkPoint Health-Wealth Activities	16
4.2.2 SparkPoint Impact on Client's Health	18
4.2.3 Opportunities and Challenges in Tracking Health Impact	19
4.3 COVID-19 Impact on SparkPoint Programming	21
4.3.1 COVID-19 Impact on SparkPoint Clients	21
4.3.2 Inequities Among COVID-19 Impacted SparkPoint Clients	23
4.3.3 COVID-19 Impact on SparkPoint Centers and Staff	24
5. Recommendations	27
6. Conclusion	30
References	31
Appendices	35
Appendix A: SparkPoint Director Interview Protocol	35
Appendix B: SparkPoint Ambassador Interview Protocol	37

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge the United Way Bay Area Equity Team for their support.

#### **UWBA Equity Team**

Ena Yasuhara Li Kelly Batson Khammany Mathavongsy Lileen Shannon Mallory Orr Mandy Lew Nicole Harden Nicole Kendrick Norman Cheng Peter Amerkhanian

We also extend our appreciation to all SparkPoint directors and clients that participated in the interviews. Their participation was integral to the success of this report.

#### **SparkPoint Directors**

Adolfo Leiva, SparkPoint at Cañada College Betty Geishirt Cantrell, SparkPoint Contra Costa Chad Thompson, SparkPoint at Skyline College Judy Schwartz, SparkPoint Fremont Natalie Nelson, SparkPoint Solano Susana Garcia, SparkPoint Napa Vanessa Muniz, SparkPoint San Jose

## **ABOUT UNITED WAY BAY AREA**

United Way Bay Area (UWBA) brings together individuals, nonprofits, businesses, and local government to create partnerships that have a lasting impact through fighting poverty and engaging the community. UWBA invests in initiatives that work to end the cycle of poverty so that all Bay Area residents can thrive. UWBA also empowers individuals to donate, advocate, and volunteer to strengthen the community and change lives, operating multiple core programs designed to move people out of poverty. Each year, these programs reach more than 250,000 Bay Area residents by connecting them to food, shelter, work opportunities, free tax help, academic and career supports, and financial literacy resources.

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

United Way Bay Area's SparkPoint program provides low-income Bay Area residents with free financial and career coaching and education to help them change their lives. SparkPoint provides a variety of financial empowerment services, including one-onone financial coaching, credit and debt counseling, and career development, among others.

United Way Bay Area (UWBA) conducted an assessment of the health-wealth connection in SparkPoint programming, with a special interest in the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on clients and centers. Data was collected through a literature review and interviews with SparkPoint clients and program staff. This assessment focused on addressing the following key research questions:

- 1. What is the health-wealth connection in SparkPoint programming?
- 2. What has the impact of COVID-19 been on SparkPoint centers, staff, and clients?

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic impacted both SparkPoint clients and staff, resulting in increased mental health and economic challenges. Clients have faced food and housing insecurity, as well as unemployment and/or reduction of work hours. Directors report loss of funding and increased difficulty in engaging clients. Both groups report increased fear, stress, and anxiety. The COVID-19 pandemic has had a disproportionately greater impact on specific populations that have historically experienced barriers to resources, including: African-Americans, Hispanic or Latinx communities, people with limited English proficiency, immigrants, families with limited or no technology, older adults, undocumented individuals, people living with disabilities, and persons with preexisting mental health conditions. The COVID-19 shelter-in-place mandate led to all SparkPoint programming shifting to virtual services with an increased focus on meeting the demand for basic needs supports. Financial constraints among clients has resulted in widespread food insecurity and difficulty paying bills, as well as negative mental health impacts. Amid COVID-19, SparkPoint centers have been able to successfully continue their important work, providing emergency relief and keeping staff and clients safe—all while staying on mission under extraordinary stress.

In this assessment, we found that SparkPoint's mission, goals, values, and activities align well with the shift toward integrative health-wealth services, where clients can access financial support, as well as services that support their preventive health and basic needs. All SparkPoint directors interviewed believe in the importance of the health-wealth connection and have successfully incorporated health-related activities into their services. These activities offer mental health support, information and referral assistance, health literacy and skills development, opportunities for social engagement, and basic needs assistance. Clients have reported a positive mental health impact from receiving SparkPoint services, including increased empowerment and confidence, reduced stress and anxiety, and improved capacity for self-care. Tracking health impact could also open new avenues of funding and inform new approaches to better serve clients. Data collection considerations would include client hesitation to discuss health issues and added work burden on staff.

Based on the findings from this assessment, we recommend the following strategies and actions to bridge the health-wealth connection more impactfully in SparkPoint programming:

FIGURE 1. Summary of key recommendations.



#### Start tracking and documenting health impact measures.

We recommend convening an advisory group to develop an evaluation plan to assess the health impact of SparkPoint centers. In developing an evaluation framework, we suggest tracking the following indicators through self-report attitudinal items on baseline and follow-up questionnaires:

- · Health insurance coverage
- · General health status (e.g., good, fair, poor)
- · Stress levels
- · Medical debt

2. Increase the capacity of SparkPoint centers to integrate health education in their work.

We recommend standardizing health-related activities or practices across all SparkPoint centers. Additionally, due to strong overlap of financial and emotional needs of clients, we propose increased mental health training of all staff.



#### Build collaborative cross-sector partnerships.

To fill in gaps in needed services, we recommend building a network with other community-based programs that address the social determinants of health with a focus in the following key areas:

- · Mental health services
- · Housing, food, and health care services
- Employment services
- Family support services



#### Promote staff wellness.

Due to the nature of work, SparkPoint staff are at increased risk of fatigue or burnout from secondary traumatic stress. Thus, we recommend setting aside time and resources to intentionally promote staff wellness through encouraging self-care and fostering a culture that allow staff to seek support.

In conclusion, economic mobility programs can be a powerful tool in helping to preventively address a wide range of public health harms, especially for disproportionately impacted populations. There is substantial evidence demonstrating that financial stability programs have a positive impact on client's health and quality of life. SparkPoint centers are uniquely positioned to expand its health education capacity and, in turn, expand health-wealth impacts on clients.

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 About SparkPoint

United Way Bay Area (UWBA) launched SparkPoint to help families and individuals improve their financial health and achieve long-term financial stability. Since the launch of the first SparkPoint center in Oakland in 2009, the model has expanded throughout eight Bay Area counties, thriving at over 20 locations and serving more than 25,000 people (**FIGURE 2**).<sup>2</sup>

SparkPoint provides one-stop community access to a full range of financial empowerment services focused on three areas: improving credit, increasing income, and building savings + assets. At its core, SparkPoint follows a financial coaching model, helping clients to achieve financial literacy and stability. In addition, each SparkPoint center brings together unique government and nonprofit partners to provide further services and resources. A comprehensive list of all SparkPoint services offered can be seen in **FIGURE 3**.

#### FIGURE 2. Map of all SparkPoint sites in the Bay Area.



#### FIGURE 3. Summary of SparkPoint services.

- · Financial coaching
- · Credit + debt counseling/repair
- Budgeting and savings plan
- · Career development
- · Vocational skills training
- · Connection to housing resources

- Job search assistance
- Homeownership assistance
- · Banking and financial products
- Benefits screening + enrollment assistance
- Tax preparation

- Rental assistance
- Cash assistance
- Financial planning
- · Peer lending circle
- Food pantry
- Education counseling

#### 1.2 Research Aims

Recognition of the important link between financial well-being and good health is on the rise. This growing awareness, combined with the disproportionate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on low-income folks and communities of color, provides a unique opportunity to evaluate the health impacts of SparkPoint programming. Although SparkPoint focuses primarily on financial outcomes, it also addresses social determinants of health such as economic security, access to basic needs, and housing conditions.

Research has shown that increased financial security is linked to improved health outcomes and improved quality of life. Life expectancy and risk of chronic illness are strongly associated with education and economic factors.<sup>1</sup> Financial insecurity has also been found to be a serious source of mental stress, leading to adverse physical health outcomes in the long-term.<sup>2</sup> Poor physical health directly impacts financial stability, increasing the likelihood of personal bankruptcy from medical debt.<sup>3</sup> Stakeholders across public, private, and philanthropic sectors are increasingly convinced of the necessity of a multidisciplinary approach that would result in solutions designed to tackle issues related to both economic and health inequality. Many of these efforts are being directly driven by the changes we are seeing in our economy—for example, record income disparities, the growing wealth gap, high levels of debt, and the recent economic fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Given these developments, UWBA explored the health-wealth connection in SparkPoint programming, with a special interest in COVID-19 impact among SparkPoint clients and centers. To delve into this topic, we aimed to answer the following research questions:

- What is the health-wealth connection in United Way Bay Area's SparkPoint programming?
  - How does SparkPoint impact health outcomes?

1.

- What are health impact measures we currently track?
- In the future, how can we integrate health impact measures into SparkPoint program evaluation activities?
- What has COVID-19 impact been on SparkPoint centers, staff, and clients?
  - How has SparkPoint been helpful in preparing clients for times like this?
  - How have SparkPoint clients been impacted by COVID-19?
  - How has COVID-19 affected SparkPoint programming?





# 2. BACKGROUND

#### 2.1 The Health-Wealth Connection

An individual's economic status can dramatically influence their health. Although health researchers tend to focus more on income, education, or occupation as indicators of economic status, a growing body of evidence suggests that wealth is also a strong predictor of health and well-being. This association has been deemed the health-wealth connection. The relationship between health and wealth is mutually determined. From an economic perspective, poor health can result in large medical expenses or affect an individual's ability to work.<sup>4</sup> From epidemiological and health policy perspectives, however, individuals with higher financial resources may have better health because they have the ability to invest in their health through the purchase of health-promoting goods and services, such as homes in safe neighborhoods, nutritious foods, and medical care.<sup>4,5</sup> Wealth supports educational attainment, housing stability (e.g. as through home ownership), and financial security, particularly during older age-all of which affect health outcomes. Accumulated wealth and assets have also been shown to help families better deal with unemployment and recover from economic loss due to an

increased ability to buffer the effects of lost or temporarily low income.<sup>6</sup> This is particularly important today considering the COVID-19 pandemic's economic repercussions.

Wealth is also closely tied to health care access. Poor individuals tend to have more restricted access to medical care, are more likely to be uninsured or underinsured, and face greater financial barriers to affording health care expenses. In 2015, the percentage of uninsured adults was 26% for those below the poverty level, 24% for those near the poverty level, and 8% for those above the poverty level.<sup>7</sup> Individually, poorer people spend a much greater proportion of their income on health care than richer people do. In 2014, medical outlays lowered the median income for the poorest decile of U.S. individuals by 47% compared to 3% for the wealthiest decile.<sup>8</sup> And due to financial considerations, many adults choose to delay or forgo necessary medical care. In 2017, a CDC report revealed that poor individuals were more than three times more likely to delay or forgo needed medical care due to cost compared with those with middle or high incomes (16% vs. 5).<sup>9</sup>

Studies have shown that lower wealth status can have a number of effects on health. The documented health effects associated with low wealth include the following:

#### **Physical Health**

- Increased mortality<sup>10-15</sup>
- Worse self-reported health<sup>10, 16-18</sup>
- Increased rates of heart disease, diabetes, stroke, and other chronic conditions<sup>19-21</sup>
- Increased risk of disability<sup>11</sup>
- Worse functional status<sup>16, 22, 23</sup>
- Decreased healthcare utilization<sup>24</sup>
- Increased risk of adverse health events<sup>25</sup>
- Increased risk for alcohol or drug abuse<sup>26</sup>

#### **Mental Health**

- Decreased psychological well-being<sup>27</sup>
- Increased rates of stress, depression, and anxiety<sup>26</sup>
- Impacted physical and cognitive function<sup>28-30</sup>
- Increased risk of mental health disorders and suicide attempts<sup>31</sup>

#### **Child Health**

- Higher obesity rates<sup>32</sup>
- Increased markers of asthma<sup>33</sup>
- Increased likelihood of mental health disorders<sup>32, 34</sup>
- Impaired social-emotional + cognitive development<sup>35</sup>
- Increased exposure to toxic stress<sup>36</sup>
- Increased behavioral problems<sup>37</sup>

Economic disadvantage and the health burden it brings compound over a person's lifetime and is passed from one generation to the next. To break this toxic cycle, it is crucial to address the root causes of health and wealth inequities. The many dimensions of social identity that structures differential access to opportunities for health and wealth include race/ethnicity, gender, socioeconomic status, disability, immigration status, and geography. Structural inequities and biases can influence hiring policies, affect educational outcomes, create differential health care service and delivery, and result in racial discrimination in housing, loan, and credit policies.<sup>38-40</sup> These structural inequities create divisions along class, racial, and ethnic lines with profound effects on future employment, income, and life expectancy, limiting the scope of opportunities that historically disadvantaged groups have for reaching their full health and wealth potentials.



#### 2.2 Health Impacts of Economic Mobility Interventions

The growing body of evidence that financial, physical, and mental health are all connected has sparked an exciting expansion of focused efforts in asset building and health education. These programs operate nationwide and are run by a range of different organizations including government agencies, public health departments, medical centers, and community-based organizations. Below, we briefly outline the common economic mobility interventions and their documented impact on health.

#### 2.2.1 Direct financial assistance programs

Direct financial assistance for low-income families is often the most effective at meeting short-term needs such as food or shelter. Research shows that the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), colloquially known as food stamps, increases economic activity, reduces health-care costs, and promotes well-being among people struggling with food insecurity.<sup>41</sup> Other programs, such as the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC), which refunds federal taxes to low-income working families, has been associated with declines in infant mortality and decreased rates of low birth weight infants, as well as improved health among mothers.<sup>42</sup> A newer initiative that has been implemented in various countries around the world is conditional cash transfers (CCT), which transfers regular cash payments to low-income households on the condition that the receivers' perform certain actions such as using specific health services (e.g., getting regular check-ups at the doctor's office or receiving vaccinations) or ensuring their children attend school. Although CCT initiatives have not been widely tested in the U.S., early results from New York City's Family Rewards CCT program for low-income families has reported reduced poverty, increased food security, increased family savings, positive impacts on educational outcomes (e.g. on-time graduation rates), and increased receipt of dental care.<sup>43</sup>

#### 2.2.2 Housing assistance programs

Homes often represent a key component of wealth as an asset. Studies have shown that being without a stable home is detrimental to one's health, resulting in substantially higher morbidity and increased mortality, as well as a range of mental health consequences including depression, anxiety, psychological distress, and suicide.<sup>44-48</sup>

There is substantial evidence that housing interventions for lowincome people have been found to improve health outcomes and decrease health care costs. Within a population of nearly 10,000 people in Oregon with unstable housing, the provision of affordable housing decreased Medicaid expenditures by 12%, increased use of outpatient primary care by 20%, and decreased emergency department use by 18%.<sup>49</sup> Housing assistance policies have also been associated with improved mental health for children and adolescents,50 better health,51,52 and lower rates of uninsurance and unmet medical need among low-income adults.53 Additionally, a study that evaluated the long-term effects of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development's (HUD) Moving to Opportunity for Fair Housing program, reported that children in families from high-poverty neighborhoods that moved to low-poverty areas had higher average annual incomes in their twenties compared to the average income of those who remained in high-poverty neighborhoods.54

#### 2.2.3 Career placement and job training programs

Career placement programs have also been demonstrated to improve health equity. In New York City, a sectoral job training program called WorkAdvance offered training, job placement, and post-employment counseling to unemployed or low-wage workers. A preliminary assessment found that after two years, participants made 14% more on average than workers in a control group.<sup>55</sup> An analysis of similar training approaches in Wisconsin, Boston, and New York City suggested similarly promising outcomes.<sup>56</sup>

The increased earnings, access to benefits (including health insurance), and opportunities for job advancement for low-income individuals could lead to increased access to material resources and health-promoting goods and services. Additionally, employer-provided benefits such as health insurance subsidies, paid sick leave, and paid vacation provide economic security to reduce chronic stress stemming from finances and job security.<sup>57</sup>

#### 2.2.4 Financial literacy programs

Financial literacy programs have been valued as a way to help people gain financial independence and empowerment. In Contra Costa, a formal intervention called Building Economic Security Today (BEST) was launched in 2008 by the county health department to address the connection between financial stability and health. The project offered Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) clients financial education classes, asset development educational materials, and referrals to the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program. Staff guided clients as they managed financial concerns such as applying for public benefits, repairing credit, opening a bank account or prepaid debit card, and obtaining free tax preparation assistance. In focus groups, WIC clients revealed how not having enough money led to feelings of stress, frustration, sadness, anger, body aches, low energy, and disruption of daily activity. They stated that having enough money enables them to feel happy, calm, active, and energized. After undergoing financial coaching, participants reported reduced stress and increased confidence.<sup>58</sup> In conclusion, economic mobility programs can be a powerful tool in helping to preventively address a wide range of public health harms, especially for disproportionately impacted populations. There is substantial evidence demonstrating that financial stability programs have a positive impact on client's health and quality of life. SparkPoint centers are uniquely positioned to expand its health education capacity and, in turn, expand health-wealth impacts on clients.





# 3. METHOD

To comprehensively assess the health-wealth connection and COVID-19's impact on SparkPoint programming, UWBA employed a qualitative research methods approach.

## 3.1 Participant Recruitment

UWBA conducted a total of 12 in-depth semi-structured interviews with SparkPoint directors and clients. Participants were recruited in June 2020.

#### SparkPoint Directors:

There are 21 SparkPoint centers and 16 SparkPoint directors. To determine which directors would be the most relevant to interview, we sent a health-wealth survey to all SparkPoint directors to assess their initial insights on SparkPoint health impact on clients and their centers' health-related activities. Nine SparkPoint directors completed the survey. We sent an email invitation to all survey participants to participate in a one-hour interview. In total, seven SparkPoint directors responded and completed the interview.

#### SparkPoint Clients:

To recruit SparkPoint clients, we drew from a cohort of SparkPoint Ambassadors, a pre-selected group of SparkPoint clients who expressed interest in sharing their experiences and stories. We tried to select a pool of individuals with a wide range of backgrounds and experiences. The study invitation was sent out to all potential participants via email. All interested participants were offered a one-hour interview. In total, five SparkPoint clients responded and completed the interview.

## 3.2 Data Collection

UWBA conducted semi-structured interviews with seven SparkPoint directors and five SparkPoint clients. Each interview was one-hour long and followed an interview protocol **(See Appendices A and B)**. Our overall goals for the interviews were to better understand

- 1. the health-wealth connection in SparkPoint programming, and
- COVID-19 impact on centers, staff, and clients.

Our questions to SparkPoint directors focused on COVID-19 impact on the centers and their clients, as well as their center's healthrelated activities and level of interest in tracking health impact. Discussions with SparkPoint clients focused on client experiences with SparkPoint and COVID-19 impact. All questions were centered on experiences of directors and clients within the past year.

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, all interviews were carried out via Zoom video calls. Each interview started with a confidentiality notice and did not proceed until verbal consent was given.

#### 3.3 Data Analysis

We used a thematic analysis approach and coded qualitative data using Microsoft Excel software. The first stage of our process was information familiarization, where we reviewed each interview transcript in their entirety before analyzing them. The next stage was information synthesis from the interviews, in which interview transcripts were highlighted in color to identify quotes and themes within the following key domains:

- SparkPoint Mission and Goals
- · SparkPoint Health-Wealth Activities
- SparkPoint Health Impact
- · Recommended Health Impact Measures
- · Barriers to Tracking Health Impact
- · COVID-19 Impacts on Clients
- COVID-19 Impacts on Centers
- Client Experience and Feedback
- · Observed Inequities

In the final stage of the analysis, key quotes identified during the information synthesis phase were pulled into Microsoft Excel to identify all emerging themes and subthemes that participants mentioned during the interviews.

#### **3.4 Limitations**

While our evaluation incorporated the perspectives of both SparkPoint directors and clients, our small sample size may have limited our findings. Not all centers were represented in the interviews. Only SparkPoint centers that indicated an interest in the topic were interviewed, and thus, their perceptions might differ from those who did not participate.

Additionally, due to the inherent challenges of recruiting and interviewing clients during a pandemic, our client sample stemmed from a pre-selected group who had previously indicated interest in sharing their experiences and stories. Thus, the viewpoints and experiences explored in this report are not representative of all SparkPoint clients.

Finally, health outcomes are influenced by a wide range of determinants, including a person's physical, social, and economic environment and cannot definitively be directly attributed to SparkPoint programming. Moreover, changes to outcomes are likely to take place over a time period beyond the time-scale of most evaluations. For these reasons, when assessing the effects of SparkPoint, we considered more immediate changes in individuals.



# 4. RESULTS

This section describes the results of this study, including the health-wealth activities described by directors, the health impacts of those activities, and suggestions on how to track health impact. Insights from SparkPoint directors and clients also highlighted important key barriers and challenges to consider when measuring health impact. Additionally, COVID-19 impacts on SparkPoint clients, staff, and centers are described below.

#### 4.1 Prior SparkPoint Evaluations

UWBA has conducted several evaluations that assess trends beyond its direct financial outcomes in order to stay updated on the shifting trends and best practices of the SparkPoint Model. UWBA's *Successful Client Analysis* in 2013 revealed that SparkPoint clients often make progress beyond their goals.<sup>59</sup> *The Magic Bundle Report* released in 2014 showcased how the combination of financial and career coaching leads to a higher likelihood of increasing income.<sup>60</sup> *The 10 Key Findings* report from 2015 revealed that it takes approximately 8-10 months for SparkPoint clients to achieve a financial prosperity outcome and that 74% of clients maintain their outcomes for at least 7 months.<sup>61</sup> And most recently, *The SparkPoint Difference* report from 2020 has found that persistence rates among students enrolled in SparkPoint at five community colleges in the Bay Area were higher than the college-wide average.<sup>62</sup>

However, SparkPoint has not yet undergone a health impact evaluation. In our assessment of the data being collected in 2020 by UWBA, there were only two health indicators being collected:

- Medical debt
- · Financial stress (at Contra Costa SparkPoint centers only)

In Contra Costa County, SparkPoint centers have been measuring clients' financial stress via survey since 2017. An analysis of the survey results demonstrate that clients overwhelmingly report high levels of financial stress (FIGURE 4). Out of 211 total clients surveyed, 163 (77%) reported a financial stress rating of 5 or higher.

Level of Financial Stress (1= low, 7=high) No. of Respondents Level of Financial Stress

**FIGURE 4.** Financial stress survey results collected between the years of 2017-2020 from SparkPoint Contra Costa centers (n = 211). Source: SparkPoint, United Way Bay Area.



#### 4.2 The Health-Wealth Connection in SparkPoint Programming

In the interviews, SparkPoint directors and clients strongly believed that health and wealth are inextricably connected. In offering financial coaching and economic empowerment, SparkPoint centers directly address the social determinants of health. Additionally, many SparkPoint centers intentionally use a wellness lens in their services to reinforce a philosophy of health with clients served.

#### 4.2.1 SparkPoint health-wealth activities

SparkPoint centers provide the following five types of healthwealth related services:

- · Mental health support
- · Information and referral assistance
- · Health-promoting events
- Promotion of social engagement and connection
- Basic needs assistance

#### 1. Mental health support

SparkPoint staff provide a range of mental health supports alongside their main objective of helping clients to achieve their financial goals. Research has shown that financial insecurity is often accompanied by significant amounts of stress and anxiety.<sup>2</sup> Thus, in supporting client journeys to financial stability and prosperity, staff also provide a lot of emotional support. SparkPoint coaches frequently have one-on-one meetings with clients to check-in regarding their overall wellness.

९९

We're always asking clients 'how are you doing?' or 'how are you feeling?'. It's another way to spark conversation. Conversations may start related to health insurance or sharing a new walking path or talking about the weather. There are so many entry points."

- SparkPoint Director

Clients similarly described the importance of having SparkPoint in their life to provide stability and support. Several clients discussed the peace of mind that SparkPoint has helped them achieve.

#### ९९

Just knowing that my SparkPoint family is there is helpful. I'm being checked in on and they are always available to answer questions. They go above and beyond."

- SparkPoint Client

#### 2. Information and referral assistance

In addition to its financial empowerment services, SparkPoint also serves as a source of community information. SparkPoint directors described how their programs refer clients to health information and resources, help clients understand their health insurance policy, or connect clients to public benefits enrollment assistance (e.g., CalFresh, Medi-Cal).

SparkPoint centers also have a variety of strategies for when a client's needs fall outside of the services offered through SparkPoint. Each SparkPoint center has its own network of local government and nonprofit partners. The centers use these partnerships to make referrals to organizations outside of SparkPoint or to collaborate with other organizations to host programs and services at their SparkPoint location (e.g. food pantry, mental health services).

## ९९

We help clients apply for Medi-Cal if they don't have health insurance. Many students don't know how to access assistance through their health insurance. What we do is help them understand their health insurance policy to understand what help is available to them." – SparkPoint Director

#### 3. Health-promoting events

SparkPoint centers often address community health issues by providing ongoing special events and programs that promote and support health-enhancing behavior among their clients and the broader community. For example, SparkPoint San Jose and Napa host ongoing wellness workshops for their clients. At these events, SparkPoint staff work with clients to develop the knowledge, skills, and information to make healthy choices. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, many of these group events have now transitioned to virtual platforms.

P

We're providing a platform for students to talk about mental health with Wellness Wednesdays. It's an interactive, open forum and place for them to vent and talk. We talk about coping, time management, financial matters, stress, and budgeting. This is where we are trying to do the health-wealth component but in an informal and non-scary way."

- SparkPoint Director

#### 4. Promotion of social engagement and connection

In addition to the one-on-one relationships that clients share with their coaches, SparkPoint also promotes social wellness through the various group events they host. By providing opportunities and spaces for clients to come together, SparkPoint helps build peer relationships and create a sense of community. Clients described increased social connection and even improved relationships due to SparkPoint. Several clients described SparkPoint staff as family or friends. When asked what they were hopeful for, multiple clients expressed a desire to help others the way they have been helped by SparkPoint.

९९

Through SparkPoint, I have had the opportunity to practice and build my skills. When you struggle, sometimes you stay bitter. But having a way out helps with helping other people. Now, with everything going on, it's necessary to speak up and use what I've learned to help others."

- SparkPoint Client

#### 5. Basic needs assistance

SparkPoint centers cultivate client wellness by serving as a physical hub for basic needs resources and services. These services include food and housing support, direct cash assistance, public benefits enrollment assistance, and emergency consultation around clients' urgent needs. Several SparkPoint centers also host an on-site food pantry and/or provide ongoing free farmers' markets.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, SparkPoint directors have adapted their basic needs supports in various ways. For safety reasons, several SparkPoint food pantries have temporarily closed. As a result, SparkPoint centers have gotten creative with socially distant ways to provide food assistance. For example, SparkPoint at Cañada College is sending Safeway gift cards to clients and SparkPoint Fremont is hosting grab + go events for groceries and household supplies to encourage social distancing. All centers have also received increased funding to offer additional rental assistance relief to clients in need.

#### 4.2.2. SparkPoint impact on client's health

All interviewed clients described positive experiences with SparkPoint and expressed appreciation for the program's services and staff. All clients reported improved financial knowledge and behavior. Beyond direct financial outcomes, however, clients and staff also discussed how SparkPoint has contributed to improved mental health outcomes.

#### 1. Increased empowerment and confidence

SparkPoint empowers clients to believe that they have the tools and ability to reach their goals and make desired changes in their lives. In describing their empowerment-based approach, a number of SparkPoint directors highlighted the importance of meeting clients where they're at. Coaches ask the clients to create their own goals and vision of success, then help break it down into smaller doable steps to help them move toward meeting those goals.

In interviews, clients describe how their work with SparkPoint has led to tangible changes and success, both personally and financially. Clients described how they have an increased sense of confidence, are better able to advocate for themselves, and have a stronger drive to succeed since participating in SparkPoint.

Directors mirrored the client reflections. They, too, noted that they have seen an increase in clients' self-esteem, confidence, and self-advocacy.

## ९९

In terms of mental health, we raise clients' confidence and make them feel like they belong. My staff and I see the way people carry themselves change over time with SparkPoint."

SparkPoint Director

९९

SparkPoint has taught me that it is okay to make mistakes and then correct. SparkPoint helped me to make changes, it helped me to dare to make changes. Before I thought there was no way out, but SparkPoint helped me to see that there was a way out. It really inspired me with hope and confidence and joy. Every time I leave a SparkPoint, I feel like I am one step closer to getting rid of my debt and one step closer to where my goals are."

- SparkPoint Client

१९

Talking about what's happening in my life at SparkPoint empowers me. It has lessened the stress because I am able to talk to someone who can do something about it and make a change, even if it's a small one."

SparkPoint Client

#### 2. Reduced stress and anxiety

Every client interviewed reported reduced stress and anxiety as a benefit of participating in SparkPoint. Stress can have a significant impact on physical and mental health, reducing the body's resiliency and leading to an increased risk of chronic conditions. Thus, the increased peace of mind that SparkPoint brings clients can reinforce other positive health outcomes. SparkPoint directors describe frequently incorporating stress reduction activities into their programs, such as wellness workshops and opportunities for peer sharing.

If it wasn't for SparkPoint, I might've had a nervous breakdown or would have went in on myself or been bitter. I was getting really bitter and I'm grateful that I was encouraged to call SparkPoint."

- SparkPoint Client

## ९९

SparkPoint takes an emotional weight off. Clients cry from relief and we share in their joy. It's a huge thing to be in charge of your finances and not have them be in charge of you."

- SparkPoint Director

#### 3. Improved ability to self-care

Clients report an improved ability to self-care after accessing SparkPoint services. SparkPoint coaches make financial decisions less daunting and provide much-needed support, lessening the mental load on clients. This reduction in financial stress provides clients with more time and energy to concentrate on their health. Specifically, SparkPoint empowered clients to dedicate more time to themselves, exercise more, and eat healthier.

## ९९

My SparkPoint coach taught me that my well-being is important and that in order to help myself, I couldn't forget to nurture myself spiritually and for my health. This motivated me to keep myself healthy and take care of myself. Before I ate out a lot and ate unhealthy, but now I grow my own vegetables and cook at home. I do everything more healthy."

- SparkPoint Client

#### 4.2.3 Opportunities and challenges in tracking health impact

All interviewed SparkPoint directors indicated interest in tracking health impact. Directors highlighted a number of opportunities to improve health impact data collection as well as key challenges that may pose barriers to tracking health impact successfully.

#### 1. Key opportunities

In interviews, all SparkPoint directors believed that addressing the link between financial wellness and health was important. In particular, directors discussed how tracking health impact could open new avenues of funding, especially from health funders. By relating food insecurity to financial insecurity, Kaiser Permanente funded SparkPoint San Jose to provide a free farmer's market with fresh fruits and vegetables. SparkPoint Contra Costa shared that they have been tracking financial stress due to a mental health grant. Directors also mentioned that incorporating health impact into the SparkPoint model could open up a dialogue with clients and staff to reveal new approaches or strategies to better serve clients.

SparkPoint directors provided several suggestions for potential health impact measures to track. Almost all directors agreed that pre-/post- assessments in the form of a client survey would be the most useful and feasible.

Medical debt assessment was highlighted as a health impact measure that SparkPoint is already measuring. In addition, they suggested the following self-reported health impact measures:

- General health status (e.g., good, fair, poor)
- · Behaviors around exercise, food, and nutrition
- Stress levels
- Health insurance coverage
- Number of primary care visits

#### 2. Key challenges

During the interviews, many SparkPoint directors expressed uncertainty in how to measure health impact. Directors highlighted several key challenges to consider.

One of the top considerations of all SparkPoint directors interviewed was that clients may hesitate to discuss their personal health issues. Since SparkPoint is primarily marketed as an economic mobility program, clients often come to SparkPoint to seek financial help and thus, may not be thinking about their health. Several directors mentioned that this has presented a barrier in opening up conversations with clients regarding health concerns. Additionally, clients may not have a full awareness or understanding of their personal health history or medical debt. From a client perspective, one interviewee mentioned how organizations often ask for excessive information that is unrelated to the services provided. As a solution, directors pointed to the importance of cultivating a relationship and building trust and rapport with clients. Clients are often in a vulnerable emotional, mental, and physical state and need a trusted confidant. This personal connection between the coaches and clients is critical to SparkPoint's success. Clients often consider the coaches to be their friend or part of their family.

Another challenge of adding health impact measurement to SparkPoint's evaluation activities would be an increased work burden on staff. Given the COVID-19 situation, staff are already facing additional burdens due to remote work and increased community need.

१९

This is a system of trust, and the same problems with tracking health already exist with tracking finances. Relationships and creating safe spaces are key."

- SparkPoint Director



#### 4.3 COVID-19 Impact on SparkPoint Programming

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected the services and operations of SparkPoint centers across the Bay Area. Additionally, the health consequences implicated by the pandemic and the resulting economic crisis has created challenges for both SparkPoint staff and clients. Below we detail the impacts COVID-19 has had on SparkPoint centers and its clients.

#### 4.3.1 COVID-19 impact on SparkPoint clients

#### 1. Mental health

In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, clients have been challenged with difficult circumstances and facing the unknown. The pandemic has heightened uncertainty over the economy, employment, finances, relationships, and physical and mental health. This has left many clients feeling a lack of control over their own lives. As a consequence, clients have described feelings of increased stress, anxiety, and depression. Even among individuals who have not been affected financially, many have expressed feelings of fear about staying safe. Additionally, sheltering-in-place and social distancing have made clients feel isolated and lonely, adding to the feelings of stress and anxiety. Several clients mentioned disappointment at not being able to see their SparkPoint coaches in-person during this difficult time. These issues are compounded among individuals who already had mental health issues. ९९

*"I've been experiencing a lot of fear and anxiety because there are so many unknowns."* 

- SparkPoint Client

९९

"We have large undocumented populations as well as farm workers. Farm workers work seasonally and have been forced to dig more into their savings, leading to higher rates of anxiety and stress."

- SparkPoint Director

## ९९

"COVID hasn't impacted me very much financially because I have savings, but emotionally it has. I've become very jumpy and wide-eyed. I can't even sleep at night."

- SparkPoint Client

### 2. Increased focus on survival

Several SparkPoint clients feel that the COVID-19 pandemic has hindered progress towards their financial goals. One client shared that she had recently built up some savings by working with her coach, but when the pandemic hit, the client had to use up all their savings on bills. However she expressed hope that she may be able to begin saving again in the future.

#### ९९

*"I'm trying to make the food last as long as it can. If it wasn't for the Safeway gift cards from SparkPoint, I'd really be at the edge."* 

- SparkPoint Client

To compensate for employment loss or a reduction in earnings, the majority of clients have had to borrow money, use their savings, or rely on credit cards to cover their basic expenses. Even the few clients who had rainy day funds for emergencies have expressed concern for how long their savings will last. These financial constraints among clients have resulted in widespread food insecurity and difficulty paying bills. Clients have described taking a survival mindset to cope with the pandemic and its economic fallout.

९९

*"We're barely staying afloat. We've had to use credit cards and we are behind on some bills. We're trying not to eat out and to make big, bulky meals."* 

- SparkPoint Client

#### 3. Housing instability

Housing instability has been cited as one of the biggest concerns related to COVID-19 by both SparkPoint clients and directors. Racial and economic disparities in access to safe and affordable housing existed long before the pandemic, but new data from the U.S. Census Bureau suggests that the pandemic—and its economic fallout—is only widening these divides;<sup>63</sup> housing cost burdens have reached record highs. Numerous clients report struggling to pay their rent. A couple of clients have even mentioned an increase in rent or mortgage costs during shelter-in-place. SparkPoint directors deem the statewide eviction moratorium futile since, once it elapses, renters will still have to pay all dues owed.

१९

Rental assistance is the biggest challenge that is looming over our community's minds. We can provide food assistance, other services, but rent is the big pressure point. Payment deferment is NOT effective, as there is going to be a day when all this back-rent is due." – SparkPoint Director

#### 4. Employment consequences

COVID-19 has led to record high unemployment rates across Northern California.<sup>64</sup> Many SparkPoint clients have lost their jobs, been furloughed, or had their work hours cut. Multiple clients reported difficulty finding a job. Others have concerns about safety when returning to work in-person. One client who commutes using public transportation expressed concerns about their ability to get to work when occupancy limits are enforced. Another client was worried about their employer not taking necessary safety precautions or providing adequate personal protective equipment to employees.

29

"Right now, it's hard to find a job, there's not a lot of openings, a lot of reduced hours, and in my case, I need a job that lets me balance school. Every day I'm thinking, 'what can I do?'. I've spent all I have on rent and have just a little left over to pay off my cable and cell phone bill. I can't sleep because I'm thinking a lot about job searching. I walk for an hour to clear my mind and then come home to do homework. I have a lot of responsibilities."

- SparkPoint Client

For clients who have maintained their jobs, it has been a struggle to maintain a work-life balance as they face new challenges and stressors. Clients are continuing full-time jobs while simultaneously home-schooling their children, attending to loved ones, and/or completing educational coursework. This stress is compounded by the uncertainty around how they will feed, clothe, and house their families.

## ९९

"Finding employment is almost impossible for folks currently. Even some parents who can work have had to stop due to other factors, such as a lack of childcare." – SparkPoint Director

#### 5. Concern for loved ones

Although a few SparkPoint clients expressed concern about the possibility of getting coronavirus, far more clients were anxious about the possibility of family and loved ones getting coronavirus. Clients expressed uncertainty on how to prevent the spread of coronavirus and keep loved ones safe. For older clients interviewed, there was a concern that getting sick would impact their ability to take care of their kids.

९९

"My biggest concern is not knowing how to keep my family healthy besides hiding."

- SparkPoint Client

#### 4.3.2 Inequities among COVID-19 impacted SparkPoint clients

COVID-19 has not affected everyone equally. The pandemic has highlighted longstanding health and economic inequities in the U.S. With the disproportionate impact of the pandemic and its economic fallout on low-income individuals and communities of color, certain groups of disadvantaged clients have experienced more hardships and barriers in accessing community services and resources.

Specific SparkPoint client populations were highlighted as being disproportionately impacted by COVID-19, including:

- · Black/African-Americans
- Hispanic or Latinx communities
- People with limited English proficiency
- Immigrants

- Families with limited or no technology
- Older adults
- Undocumented individuals
- People living with disabilities
- · Persons with pre-existing mental health conditions

Many SparkPoint directors mentioned the unequal health and economic consequences that Black and Latino communities face as a result of COVID-19. Recent data shows that Black and Latinx communities have higher rates of COVID-19 infection, and in some places, higher rates of hospitalizations and deaths.<sup>65</sup> Furthermore, there are also higher unemployment rates among Black and Latinx workers. Early data and research shows Black workers losing wages and facing layoffs at faster rates than white workers.<sup>66</sup> The disproportionate effects of the pandemic have been compounded by the tragic deaths of Black individuals, such as Breonna Taylor and George Floyd (among many others), at the hands of the police. These incidents have unleashed a collective trauma in the Black community with accompanying mental health consequences. Latinx communities face similar issues around police brutality and discrimination.

Several SparkPoint directors have voiced concern for the safety of their Spanish-speaking clients. In particular, directors report a lack of COVID-19 resources for non-English speakers. Although certain official materials may be issued in both English and Spanish, many clients may not have television or internet access or are working long hours with limited or no exposure to important COVID-19 information. Thus, a large group of people have not been made aware of social distancing guidelines or recommendations to prevent transmission of the virus. These issues affect other non-English speakers including immigrants and limited English proficiency speakers as well.

९९

"A lot of people are scared because of COVID-19, especially our Spanish-speaking community. Things weren't being translated into Spanish. They were getting information directly from the public health department or CDC, so they weren't always having access to accurate information."

- SparkPoint Director

Digital barriers were also cited by a large number of SparkPoint directors as an equity issue. As shelter-in-place orders have gone into effect, there has been an increased reliance on technology. To be digitally connected, however, one needs reliable internet, adequate devices, and digital literacy skills. SparkPoint directors have noted a significant digital divide, particularly among lowincome families, seniors, and immigrants. This has presented a barrier in clients' ability to access SparkPoint services as well as other remote services and information.

The undocumented community was also a key population of concern. Directors report that undocumented individuals were excluded from the federally issued stimulus checks as well as from unemployment insurance. Directors have observed an increased hesitance among their undocumented clients in accessing public resources due to fear of retribution.

## ९९

"Getting information isn't easy because English is my second language. Sometimes I feel uncomfortable seeking services because of biases so I'm staying quiet. Living in this country can be stressful and sometimes painful."

- SparkPoint Client

## ९९

"Comfort level with technology, especially with older clients or people without computers or devices, has been a big barrier."

SparkPoint Director

## 66

*"I am very worried for the undocumented population. They face more challenges involving accessing public benefits, anxieties involving citizenship status, and resources not being in their language."* 

SparkPoint Director

Lastly, SparkPoint directors warn that the needs of people living with disabilities have largely gone ignored. Digital formats are not equally accessible to all and can provide unique challenges to those with disabilities. Specifically, directors have cited the increased difficulty of filling out public benefits forms and finding employment virtually for clients with disabilities. Those with pre-existing mental health conditions are also at increased risk of compounded effects of stress and anxiety.

P

"Many of our clients are people with disabilities. I think that in addition to people of color being worst hit, people with disabilities can be added to the same group. They're less equipped to respond because they're already lower income. Not having the agency to manage the online application processes can be difficult if you're a person with disabilities."

- SparkPoint Director

#### 4.3.3 COVID-19 impact on SparkPoint centers and staff

The COVID-19 shelter-in-place mandate forced all SparkPoint programming to transition to virtual remote services. This transition has been challenging for SparkPoint programming and staff. Challenges have included the need to rapidly shift to virtual services, shifting program focus to meet the demand for basic needs supports, increased concern for future program sustainability, safety concerns, difficulty engaging clients, and staff experiencing secondhand stress. Amid COVID-19, SparkPoint centers have successfully continued their important work, providing emergency relief and keeping staff and clients safe—all while staying on mission under extraordinary stress.

#### 1. Rapid shift to virtual services

The sudden transition to remote services was described by many directors as a set-back for their centers. One director detailed how their plan to host job fairs and connect clients to employers in the summer was halted by the pandemic. To connect with clients, SparkPoint centers report an increased reliance on technology. Centers are now hosting group activities on Zoom and providing one-on-one financial services via phone or text. SparkPoint Napa reported investing in new software such as Sign Now for remote documents verification and Calendly to facilitate scheduling with clients. SparkPoint coaches are continuing to engage clients in financial and career coaching services through virtual platforms. However, conversations with clients have shifted towards urgent and short-term goals to meet day-to-day basic needs due to financial crisis and instability.

९९

*"It's hard to prepare when there is so much unknown. It's a difficult time, we need to be able to continue to pivot."* 

- SparkPoint Director

#### 2. Services focused on basic needs support

COVID-19 and its economic fallout has drastically impacted clients, resulting in a greater demand for basic needs support. In response, SparkPoint programs have shifted their focus to providing basic needs assistance to clients facing loss of income and its accompanying food and housing insecurity. Some centers are continuing to provide food pantry services and running healthy food programs through delivery and social distanced arrangements. Directors underscored that clients were facing various personal and financial challenges in their lives and SparkPoint long-term financial planning was not at the top of their minds. In order to meet clients where they are at, SparkPoint Centers have redirected their focus to address basic needs support and help clients through financial crisis and instability.

#### 3. Concern for program sustainability

The economic challenges that have accompanied COVID-19 have not only been restricted to clients. SparkPoint has also felt the financial strain and pressure of a collapsing economy. While the community need for SparkPoint programs and services increased, funding streams decreased.

All directors reported funding and sustainability as the biggest challenge their centers were facing. One director revealed that many of their funders gave to COVID-19 response and expressed concern that there may not be enough left over in the future to keep their SparkPoint center operating. If funding continues to decline, centers may need to take a variety of steps to respond to diminished funding – such as reducing programs or services, freezing wages, or laying off employees. Faced with such vast uncertainty over time, multiple directors have attested to the toll that navigating an ever-changing landscape has taken on staff. Directors state that with so many unknowns, it has been difficult to plan for the future and it feels like they are constantly pivoting.

9

"Sustainability is always a concern. So many folks are having to start over again. We need to have a comprehensive program that can tackle all the issues clients are facing. But with limited resources and limited staffing, we are worried about our ability to do the work." – SparkPoint Director

#### 4. Safety concerns

As SparkPoint centers consider reopening to in-person services, many directors are grappling with the challenges of ensuring the safety of their staff and clients. Directors report that they are closely monitoring public health data, local health conditions, and county-specific information to inform safe reopening decisions. Additionally, SparkPoint centers must consider the number of overall clients, the ability to follow social distancing protocols, and the physical conditions of their work environment. Finally, multiple SparkPoint directors emphasized the importance of ensuring adequate personal protective equipment for staff and clients as well as the ability to conduct ongoing deep cleaning.

९९

"We just re-opened to staff and are not yet open to the public. The concern is making sure people are safe. We need to make sure we have enough cleaning and disinfecting supplies and enough masks for staff and clients."

- SparkPoint Director

#### 5. Difficulty with client engagement

With the transition to remote services, many SparkPoint directors described increased difficulty with client engagement. Numerous SparkPoint directors expressed feeling disconnected from their service population and concern that they may not be able to as effectively recruit new clients moving forward.

The closure of the physical SparkPoint centers has presented a barrier for some clients. A portion of SparkPoint clients do not have access to computers or internet. This digital divide has proved challenging in maintaining connection with the hardest hit populations. Directors have reported success with using Facetime or phone to communicate instead, but also state that these tools are not an adequate substitute for in-person interactions. In client interviews, multiple clients asserted that they preferred in-person meetings with their coach compared to virtual. Even for those who are digitally connected, directors point out that clients may have increased hesitation about disclosing personal financial matters over virtual platforms.

## •

"My biggest concern is how to engage with new clients moving forward. Since we're not going back in person, I'm concerned we're going to have a hard time building relationships virtually. They're not going to feel as comfortable over Zoom."

- SparkPoint Director

## ९९

"Engagement with clients has been really difficult now that we are working remotely. Comfort level with technology, especially with older clients or people without computers or devices, has been a big barrier. Many clients are in survival mode and are just trying to make it."

- SparkPoint Director

#### 6. Impact on staff

As a consequence of COVID-19, staff may be grappling with their own personal stress, anxieties, or challenges related to the pandemic and the resulting economic crisis. Due to the transition to remote services, staff have described slower processes and an increased time and effort in trying to engage clients. Additionally, directors report that secondhand stress from hearing stories of traumatic experiences in the course of their work can often cause fatigue. This frequently occurs when staff do not have adequate time to refuel and care for themselves. Directors are mindful of the impacts on staff and describe numerous coping strategies such as encouraging their team to take time off to self-care and more frequent check-ins.

*"I'm supervising a team who are working the field and supporting clients on the edge. Our staff are experiencing the same crisis as everyone else. How can I keep everyone whole and healthy in this environment? It's pretty daunting."* 

- SparkPoint Director

९९

We all have secondhand stress. We carry it for clients or for each other. We check in on each other, and reassure each other after stressful times."

- SparkPoint Director



# **5. RECOMMENDATIONS**

#### **RECOMMENDATION 1**

Start tracking and documenting health impact measures.

The growing importance of the link between financial wellness and health has been amplified as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. All SparkPoint directors interviewed were in agreement that measuring health impact would be useful for their SparkPoint centers. Although many challenges exist with tracking health impact, overall, they believe that tracking certain health impact measures is worthwhile and would have benefits for SparkPoint programming and operations.

Measuring and documenting the health impacts of the SparkPoint program will help ensure that resources are used effectively and that the families most in need are seeing benefits. Documenting health outcomes also provides actionable data that program administrators can use to identify, design, and implement approaches that are particularly successful in the communities they serve. Documentation provides an opportunity to track the welfare of participants to better support clients in their self-defined goals and journey to financial stability. Finally, demonstrating results can attract partners that could support or expand SparkPoint programming, particularly those from the community health sector. Being able to demonstrate specific health outcomes can position a program to leverage dollars earmarked for preventive approaches to health care.

# Create an evaluation plan to assess the health impact of SparkPoint centers.

Before developing a data collection plan, we recommend that UWBA create a comprehensive map of SparkPoint center services and activities. Since not all centers were represented in our interview sample, surveying all SparkPoint directors and staff can help develop a more comprehensive picture of the health-wealth activities implemented at each center. This process can also collect basic information about effective practices or strategies, assess SparkPoint's health promotion capacity, and document the number of clients or community members affected by healthwealth activities. Second, we recommend UWBA to convene an advisory group for health impact matters. The advisory group would consist of advisors and representatives that are involved in or support SparkPoint work (e.g., SparkPoint directors, front-line staff, clients, UWBA staff, and/or funders). The goals of this group would be to review the full set of recommendations and set priorities. This group can also help to identify and implement key projects.

Finally, we suggest collaborating with the advisory group to develop an evaluation plan that incorporates best practices for implementing health impact measurement. The plan should specify which health impact measures to use and methods of assessment (e.g. survey). When selecting the final health impact measures, it is important to also consider the size of the effect being aimed for, such as nominating a percentage of clients who will achieve a particular level of impact. For example, "85% of clients attending financial coaching group workshops will report reduced stress." The evaluation plan should also outline data collection, recording, storage, analysis, and reporting procedures.

#### Establish processes to collect health impact data.

We suggest that UWBA track health impact data via self-report attitudinal items on baseline and follow-up questionnaires. Impact can be assessed through pre-/post-assessments among clients who have received ongoing SparkPoint services. When implementing the health impact evaluation plan, there are two possible sampling approaches:

- Census approach: Measure health impact for all SparkPoint clients
- Sample approach: Measure health impact for a sample of participants (e.g. one SparkPoint center to start)

Based on insights from SparkPoint directors, we recommend tracking the following health impact measures:

- Health insurance coverage
- Medical debt
  - Medical debt has been implicated as a leading contributor to personal bankruptcy by several studies.<sup>3,67,68</sup>
  - Although this measure is already tracked on SparkPoint's baseline and follow-up forms, the growing burden of medical debt on Americans necessitates a more accurate tracking system for medical debt assessment.

- Stress levels
- General health status (e.g., good, fair, poor)

In addition to understanding an individual's insurance status and medical debt burden, these questions can capture self-perceptions of personal health and well-being. In addition, it is important to collect ongoing qualitative feedback from SparkPoint staff and clients during the evaluation process to better understand their experiences, challenges, and needs.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 2**

Increase the capacity of SparkPoint centers to integrate health education in their work.

# Define a standardized approach to health and wealth across all SparkPoint centers.

In addition to the core financial empowerment services, each SparkPoint center offers its own additional unique set of services depending on its network of partners. Thus, SparkPoint centers varied on the health-related activities and supports available at each center. To track health impact across all SparkPoint centers, it would be beneficial to standardize the health promotion activities or practices across all centers where feasible and practical.

To begin the process of creating a standardized health-wealth approach, UWBA could provide opportunities for SparkPoint leadership to discuss their centers' health-related activities and health-wealth impact with each other. Many SparkPoint directors expressed a desire to discuss this topic with other directors and staff. Thus, UWBA could hold conference calls, group meetings, and webinars to provide ongoing support to staff who are supporting health-wealth work to share implementation strategies, challenges, and other related issues. These events could be organized on the basis of roles within their organizations (e.g., director, coaches, volunteers) or center type (e.g. community college versus community school sites).

UWBA can also provide tools and resources that SparkPoint service providers can use to implement and assess the impact of health-oriented programs and activities. A few tools that SparkPoint directors mentioned they were using to assess their individual programs or activities were Contra Costa's financial stress survey and Fremont's Family Development Matrix.

#### Expand mental health supports at SparkPoint centers.

SparkPoint clients are at high risk of impaired mental health due to financial-related stress and anxiety. In the wake of COVID-19, mental health and emotional well-being has become more important than ever. SparkPoint staff are doing an excellent job at meeting their clients' needs and providing support, but increased mental health training and awareness on the overlap of financial and emotional needs could result in even higher efficacy of services. One SparkPoint director mentioned that all of their program staff were certified in mental health first aid. We recommend increased mental health trainings and/or certifications for all SparkPoint coaches and staff to more effectively recognize mental health issues that clients may be facing and refer clients earlier in the process to get people into care sooner. Coaches do not need to become therapists or counselors themselves, but additional training may be helpful.

#### Raise awareness about SparkPoint's holistic approach.

Several SparkPoint directors mentioned that clients may hesitate to share personal health matters because they think of SparkPoint as only a financial service. To expand SparkPoint's narrative and view, we recommend reframing SparkPoint as not just an economic mobility program, but one that also intersects with health in many different ways (e.g., mental health support, linkages to basic needs assistance, referrals to health sources).

#### Host funder briefings.

To explore new funding opportunities, UWBA could host a series of funder briefings to introduce grant-makers to the potential health impact that SparkPoint can have on clients. These funder briefings will allow advocates, key stakeholders, and philanthropic leaders to learn about, discuss, and explore opportunities on how those leaders can support SparkPoint efforts.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 3**

Build collaborative cross-sector partnerships.

Every SparkPoint center has established relationships and collaborations with many other community organizations or government agencies, and they continue to refer clients to other resources and programs. To build or strengthen processes of tracking and reporting health impact, collaborating with an outside organization such as a local health department or medical center can provide additional expertise and resources.

We recommend SparkPoint directors to continue building a network with other community-based programs that address the

social determinants of health. Many healthcare and communitybased organizations share the common goal of improving the health and wellbeing of the communities they serve. As a result of this alignment, many organizations are open to working together to address the root causes of poor health among lowincome and marginalized populations. Increased partnerships and linkages among SparkPoint and other community-based organizations and healthcare entities, could enhance access to programs and services that help individuals improve their health and quality of life. These partnerships are particularly valuable because they can build on complementary skills and expertise within the community to fill gaps in needed services, as well as coordinate and improve access to community-based preventive and chronic care services. This increased network of partnerships could further the development of SparkPoint's referral pathways bi-directionally. SparkPoint would have a broader range of organizations and services to refer clients to, but would also benefit from an increased intake of clients due to referrals from other organizations in their networks.

Based on the interview findings of COVID-19 impacts on clients, we suggest expansion of partnerships in the following key areas:

**Mental health services:** SparkPoint clients are at high risk of adverse mental health effects and chronic, toxic stress due to financial insecurity. These impacts have been exacerbated by the socioeconomic and health consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic. As such, addressing the mental health needs of clients has become more important than ever. Expanded partnerships with mental health organizations can provide much-needed additional mental health support and care services for clients.

Housing, food, and health care services: The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in an unprecedented increase in demand for food, rent, and utility assistance. Collaboration with other communitybased organizations supporting basic needs (such as food banks or rental relief programs) will help expand SparkPoint's capacity to meet the increased demand. We recommend a focus on partners that meet housing, food, or healthcare needs.

**Employment services:** As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the U.S. has entered its worst recession in decades with millions of Americans laid off. SparkPoint clients are no exception. Increased partnerships with employment service agencies can help SparkPoint to better connect clients to job opportunities and new training programs. Specifically partnering with disability employment service agencies can also meet the needs of clients living with disabilities, a population that may face increased barriers to employment.

**Family support services:** COVID-19 has also impacted family wellbeing. With the closure of schools, libraries, community centers, and childcare facilities, families are left to care for their children's physical, emotional, and education needs in unprecedented ways. This is especially hard for those who were struggling to meet their basic needs before COVID-19 hit. Partnering with agencies that offer family support, such as family resource centers, can provide clients with educational resources, counseling, child care, and other activities that strengthen families and improve child wellbeing.

In order to expand opportunities to connect with other organizations, we recommend the following strategies to raise awareness about the SparkPoint program:

- Provide ongoing opportunities for key stakeholders to learn more about SparkPoint and its financial and health impact. Host a set of exploratory roundtables including key stakeholders involved in health-wealth work from across academia, business, community-based organizations, and advocacy groups to begin dialogue, promote transparency, and identify and discover areas of partnership.
- Increase online visibility. Highlight opportunities to connect to online resources such as newsletters and a web portal where groups can learn about SparkPoint. An increased social media presence could also help SparkPoint engage new constituents.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 4**

Promote staff wellness.

SparkPoint directors report that when coaches build an emotional connection with clients, they often experience feelings of fatigue from secondary traumatic stress. Over time, these indirect exposures to trauma can contribute to an increased risk of burnout. This chronic work-related stress can, in turn, affect SparkPoint services and clients. Coaches or other front-line staff experiencing these conditions may struggle to provide high-quality care to clients.

To mitigate the effects of secondary stress experienced by staff, UWBA and SparkPoint leadership can set aside time and resources to intentionally promote staff wellness. Encouraging wellness can help staff to function optimally, provide high quality care, and increase staff morale. There are a number of strategies to accomplish this:

- General wellness: Encouraging and incentivizing activities like yoga, meditation, and exercise.
- Organizational: Fostering a culture that allows staff to seek support; keeping caseloads manageable; and providing sufficient mental health benefits.
- Education: Providing targeted trainings that create awareness of chronic emotional stress and the importance of self-care.
- Supervision: Facilitating staff wellness through management strategies such as reflective supervision, a practice in which a coach and supervisor meet regularly to address feelings regarding client interactions.

These practices will be even more impactful given the additional stresses that staff are facing due to COVID-19 and the transition to remote work.

# CONCLUSION

Economic mobility programs can be a powerful tool in helping to preventively address a wide range of public health harms, especially for disproportionately impacted populations. Unfortunately, these programs have largely been siloed from public health institutions, and the lack of capacity and funding constraints have prevented many of these programs from measuring health outcomes.

SparkPoint centers are in a unique position to be able to expand their health education capacity and, in turn, expand healthwealth impacts on clients. The social determinants of health are becoming more widely recognized and research increasingly points to the interrelatedness of health and financial well-being. Furthermore, the current struggles that SparkPoint clients, and the general public, are experiencing underscores the importance of the services that SparkPoint provides. As we look for solutions to the public health and economic challenges ahead, SparkPoint can also leverage cross-sector partnerships and pay renewed attention to staff wellness to strengthen the resilience of its services throughout the pandemic, into early recovery and beyond.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Virginia Commonwealth University Center on Society and Health for the Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments Health Officials Committee. Uneven Opportunities: How Conditions for Wellness Vary Across the Metropolitan Washington Region. 2018.
- Mucci N, Giorgi G, Roncaioli M, Fiz Perez J, Arcangeli G. The correlation between stress and economic crisis: a systematic review. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2016; 12:983-993.
- 3. Richard P, Walker R, Alexandre P. The burden of out of pocket costs and medical debt faced by households with chronic health conditions in the United States. PLoS One. 2018; 13(6):e0199598.
- 4. Galama TJ, van Kippersluis H. Health Inequalities through the Lens of Health Capital Theory: Issues, Solutions, and Future Directions. Res Econ Inequal. 2013; 21:263-284.
- 5. Halliday TJ. Earnings Growth and Movements in Self Reported Health. Review of Income and Wealth. 2017; 63:760-776.
- Yeung WJ, Hofferth SL. Family Adaptations to Income and Job Loss in the U.S. Journal of Family and Economic Issues. 1998; 19:255–283.
- Martinez ME, Ward BW. Health Care Access and Utilization Among Adults Aged 18–64, by Poverty Level: United States, 2013–2015. NCHS Data Brief No. 262; U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention;2016.
- Christopher AS, Himmelstein DU, Woolhandler S, McCormick D. The Effects of Household Medical Expenditures on Income Inequality in the United States. Am J Public Health. 2018; 108(3):351-354.
- 9. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Health, United States 2018 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2018.
- 10. Hajat A, Kaufman JS, Rose KM, Siddiqi A, Thomas JC. Long-term effects of wealth on mortality and self-rated health status. Am J Epidemiol. 2011; 173(2):192-200.
- 11. Makaroun LK, Brown RT, Grisell Diaz-Ramirez L, Ahalt C, Boscardin J, Lang-Brown S, Lee S. Wealth-Associated Disparities in Death and Disability in the United States and England. JAMA Intern Med. 2017; 177(12):1745-1753.
- 12. Daly MC, Duncan GJ, McDonough P, Williams DR. Optimal indicators of socioeconomic status for health research. Am J Public Health. 2002; 92(7):1151-1157.
- 13. Bond Huie SA, Krueger PM, Rogers RG, Hummer RA. Wealth, Race, and Mortality. Social Science Quarterly. 2003; 84(3):667-684.
- 14. Menchik PL. Economic Status as a Determinant of Mortality Among Black and White Older Men: Does Poverty Kill? Population Studies. 1993; 47(3):427-436.
- 15. Attanasio OP, Hoynes HW. Differential Mortality and Wealth Accumulation. The Journal of Human Resources. 2000; 35(1):1-29.
- 16. Drentea P, Lavrakas PJ. Over the limit: the association among health, race and debt. Soc Sci Med. 2000; 50(4):517-529.
- 17. Wenzlow AT, Mullahy J, Robert SA, Wolfe BL. An Empirical Investigation of the Relationship between Wealth and Health Using the Survey of Consumer Finances. Institute for Research on Poverty;2004.
- 18. Sweet E, Nandi A, Adam EK, McDade TW. The high price of debt: household financial debt and its impact on mental and physical health. Soc Sci Med. 2013; 91:94-100.
- 19. Hajat A, Kaufman JS, Rose KM, Siddiqi A, Thomas JC. Do the wealthy have a health advantage? Cardiovascular disease risk factors and wealth. Soc Sci Med. 2010; 71(11):1935-1942.
- 20. Robert S, House JS. SES differentials in health by age and alternative indicators of SES. J Aging Health. 1996; 8(3):359-388.
- 21. Robert SA. Community-Level Socioeconomic Status Effects on Adult Health. Journal of Health and Social Behavior. 1998; 39(1):18-37.

- 22. Kington RS, Smith JP. Socioeconomic status and racial and ethnic differences in functional status associated with chronic diseases. Am J Public Health. 1997; 87(5):805-810.
- 23. von dem Knesebeck O, Luschen G, Cockerham WC, Siegrist J. Socioeconomic status and health among the aged in the United States and Germany: a comparative cross-sectional study. Soc Sci Med. 2003; 57(9):1643-1652.
- 24. Allin S, Masseria C, Mossialos E. Measuring socioeconomic differences in use of health care services by wealth versus by income. Am J Public Health. 2009; 99(10):1849-1855.
- 25. McClellan MB. Health Events, Health Insurance, and Labor Supply: Evidence from the Health and Retirement Survey. In: Wise DA, ed. Frontiers in the Economics of Aging. University of Chicago Press; 1998.
- 26. Muntaner C, Eaton WW, Diala C, Kessler RC, Sorlie PD. Social class, assets, organizational control and the prevalence of common groups of psychiatric disorders. Soc Sci Med. 1998; 47(12):2043-2053.
- 27. Schiller JS, Lucas JW, Peregoy JA. Summary health statistics for U.S. adults: National health interview survey, 2011. Vital Health Stat 10. 2012; (256):1-218.
- 28. Beebe-Dimmer J, Lynch JW, Turrell G, Lustgarten S, Raghunathan T, Kaplan GA. Childhood and adult socioeconomic conditions and 31-year mortality risk in women. Am J Epidemiol. 2004; 159(5):481-490.
- 29. Kaplan GA, Shema SJ, Leite CM. Socioeconomic determinants of psychological well-being: the role of income, income change, and income sources during the course of 29 years. Ann Epidemiol. 2008; 18(7):531-537.
- Lynch JW, Kaplan GA, Shema SJ. Cumulative impact of sustained economic hardship on physical, cognitive, psychological, and social functioning. N Engl J Med. 1997; 337(26):1889-1895.
- 31. Sareen J, Afifi TO, McMillan KA, Asmundson GJ. Relationship between household income and mental disorders: findings from a population-based longitudinal study. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2011; 68(4):419-427.
- 32. Wu S, Wang X, Wu Q, Harris KM. Household Financial Assets Inequity and Health Disparities Among Young Adults: Evidence from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health. J Health Dispar Res Pract. 2018; 11(1):122-135.
- 33. Chen E, Hanson MD, Paterson LQ, Griffin MJ, Walker HA, Miller GE. Socioeconomic status and inflammatory processes in childhood asthma: the role of psychological stress. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006; 117(5):1014-1020.
- 34. Le-Scherban F, Brenner AB, Schoeni RF. Childhood family wealth and mental health in a national cohort of young adults. SSM Popul Health. 2016; 2:798-806.
- Chen E, Langer DA, Raphaelson YE, Matthews KA. Socioeconomic status and health in adolescents: the role of stress interpretations. Child Dev. 2004; 75(4):1039-1052.
- 36. Nurius PS, Green S, Logan-Greene P, Longhi D, Song C. Stress pathways to health inequalities: Embedding ACEs within social and behavioral contexts. Int Public Health J. 2016; 8(2):241-256.
- Scanlon E, Devine K. Residential Mobility and Youth Well-Being: Research, Policy, and Practice Issues. Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare. 2001; 28(1):119-138.
- 38. Olshansky SJ, Antonucci T, Berkman L, Binstock RH, Boersch-Supan A, Cacioppo JT, Carnes BA, et al. Differences in life expectancy due

to race and educational differences are widening, and many may not catch up. Health Aff (Millwood). 2012; 31(8):1803-1813.

39. Pager D, Shepherd H. The Sociology of Discrimination: Racial Discrimination in Employment, Housing, Credit, and Consumer Markets. Annu Rev Sociol. 2008; 34:181-209.

- Sabin J, Nosek BA, Greenwald A, Rivara FP. Physicians' implicit and explicit attitudes about race by MD race, ethnicity, and gender. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2009; 20(3):896-913.
- 41. Zandi MM. Assessing the Macro Economic Impact of Fiscal Stimulus 2008. Economy.com. https://www.economy.com/mark-zandi/ documents/Stimulus-Impact-2008.pdf. Published 2008. Accessed.
- 42. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Earned Income Tax Credits. https://www.cdc.gov/policy/hst/hi5/taxcredits/index.html. Published 2020. Accessed.
- 43. Riccio JA, Dechausay N, Miller C, Nuñez S, Verma N, Yang E. Conditional Cash Transfers in New York City: The Continuing Story of the Opportunity NYC–Family Rewards Demonstration. MDRC;2013.
- 44. Maness DL, Khan M. Care of the homeless: an overview. Am Fam Physician. 2014; 89(8):634-640.
- 45. Auerswald CL, Lin JS, Parriott A. Six-year mortality in a street-recruited cohort of homeless youth in San Francisco, California. PeerJ. 2016; 4:e1909.
- 46. Sandel M, Sheward R, Sturtevant L. Compounding Stress: The Timing and Duration Effects of Homelessness on Children's Health. Children's HealthWatch;2015.
- 47. Sandel M, Sheward R, Ettinger de Cuba S, Coleman SM, Frank DA, Chilton M, Black M, et al. Unstable Housing and Caregiver and Child Health in Renter Families. Pediatrics. 2018; 141(2).
- 48. Tsai AC. Home foreclosure, health, and mental health: a systematic review of individual, aggregate, and contextual associations. PLoS One. 2015; 10(4):e0123182.
- Center for Outcomes Research and Eduation. Health in Housing: Exploring the Intersection between Housing and Health Care. CORE, Enterprise Community Partners Inc.;2016.
- 50. Fenelon A, Slopen N, Boudreaux M, Newman SJ. The Impact of Housing Assistance on the Mental Health of Children in the United States. J Health Soc Behav. 2018; 59(3):447-463.
- 51. Fenelon A, Mayne P, Simon AE, Rossen LM, Helms V, Lloyd P, Sperling J, et al. Housing Assistance Programs and Adult Health in the United States. Am J Public Health. 2017; 107(4):571-578.
- 52. Keene DE, Guo M, Murillo S. "That wasn't really a place to worry about diabetes": Housing access and diabetes self-management among low-income adults. Soc Sci Med. 2018; 197:71-77.
- Simon AE, Fenelon A, Helms V, Lloyd PC, Rossen LM. HUD Housing Assistance Associated With Lower Uninsurance Rates And Unmet Medical Need. Health Aff (Millwood). 2017; 36(6):1016-1023.
- 54. Chetty R, Hendren N, Katz LF. The Effects of Exposure to Better Neighborhoods on Children: New Evidence from the Moving to Opportunity Experiment. Am Econ Rev. 2016; 106(4):855-902.
- 55. New Findings Show That WorkAdvance Sectoral Training and Advancement Program Boosts Earnings for Low-Income Workers [press release]. MDRC; 2016.
- 56. Maguire S, Freely J, Clymer C, Conway M, Schwartz D. Findings from The Sectoral Employment Impact Study. Public/Private Ventures;2010.
- 57. Tsui EK. Sectoral job training as an intervention to improve health equity. Am J Public Health. 2010; 100 Suppl 1:S88-94.
- 58. Parthasarathy P, Dailey DE, Young ME, Lam C, Pies C. Building Economic Security Today: making the health-wealth connection in Contra Costa county's maternal and child health programs. Matern Child Health J. 2014; 18(2):396-404.

- 59. United Way Bay Area. The Successful Client Analysis. 2013.
- 60. United Way Bay Area. The Magic Bundle: SparkPoint Bundled Services Analysis. 2014.
- 61. United Way Bay Area. 10 Key Findings. 2015.
- 62. United Way Bay Area. The SparkPoint Difference: Student Persistence Improvement at Community Colleges. 2020.
- 63. U.S. Census Bureau. COVID-19 Demographic and Economic Resources. https://covid19.census.gov/. Published 2020. Accessed.
- 64. Center for Business and Policy Research at the University of the Pacific. Estimated Employment Impacts of COVID-19 on Northern California. 2020.
- 65. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Health Equity Considerations and Racial and Ethnic Minority Groups. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/health-equity/race-ethnicity.html?CDC\_AA\_refVal=https%3A%2F%2F www.cdc.gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-ncov%2Fneed-extra-precautions%2Fracial-ethnic-minorities.html. Published 2020. Accessed.
- Weller C. The Tip Of The Iceberg: Early Job Losses Take Bigger Toll On Communities Of Color. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/ christianweller/2020/04/07/the-tip-of-the-iceberg-early-job-losses-take-bigger-toll-on-communities-of-color/ - 625ca5a2502e.
  Published 2020. Accessed.
- 67. Bielenberg JE, Futrell M, Stover B, Hagopian A. Presence of Any Medical Debt Associated With Two Additional Years of Homelessness in a Seattle Sample. Inquiry. 2020; 57:46958020923535.
- Herman PM, Rissi JJ, Walsh ME. Health insurance status, medical debt, and their impact on access to care in Arizona. Am J Public Health. 2011; 101(8):1437-1443.

# APPENDIX A: SPARKPOINT DIRECTOR INTERVIEW PROTOCOL

#### Health-Wealth Connection Interview Protocol (SparkPoint Directors)

#### Introductions

Good morning (afternoon). Thank you for taking the time to speak with me. The three aims of this interview are:

- · To understand the health-wealth connection within each SparkPoint center
- · To understand the impacts of COVID-19 on SparkPoint clients
- · To gain insights on monitoring health impact at SparkPoint centers

Your insights as a SparkPoint director are extremely valuable to us. We are also interviewing other directors at SparkPoint centers. We will use the information obtained from these interviews to consider ways to assess health impacts of SparkPoint program.

#### **Confidentiality Notice**

"Any information you provide will remain confidential and only be shared internally within United Way Bay Area. We may use some quotes from this interview in our marketing materials, website, or impact reports to share how SparkPoint has impacted their clients, but we won't be associating quotes with any names or identifying information."

#### **Client Impact, Opportunities, and Barriers**

- 1. What do you see as the primary goals of SparkPoint?
- 2. What are the biggest challenges that your clients are facing now due to COVID and shelter in place?
  - Are there any barriers for clients coming/seeking services?
  - What physical or mental health impacts have they experienced due to COVID?
  - What economic impacts have they experienced due to COVID?

#### **Health-Wealth Connection**

- 3. How do you think your work at SparkPoint impacts the health of your clients? (Reference their survey response)
  - Mental health?
  - Physical health?
  - Economic impact?
  - Social connections or relationships?
  - Other ways?

- 4. What measures would be helpful for understanding the impact of SparkPoint on clients' health?
  - (Reference their survey response)
  - Are you currently tracking health impact in any way?
  - Have you done anything to track this in the past?
- 5. Would this data be useful to help your staff provide better services?
  - Why or why not would it be useful?
  - Why might it be challenging to monitor health effects?

#### Conclusion

- 6. What are your biggest concerns for your center as a SparkPoint director?
  - Budget? Staffing? Client engagement?

#### 7. Do you have any questions?

Thank you again for taking the time to speak with me this morning (afternoon). Your time is much appreciated, and your insights are extremely valuable.

# APPENDIX B: SPARKPOINT CLIENT INTERVIEW PROTOCOL

#### Health-Wealth Connection Interview Protocol (SparkPoint Clients)

#### Introductions

Good morning (afternoon). Thank you for taking the time to speak with me. The purpose of this interview is: 1) to learn about how COVID-19 has impacted your life, and 2) to understand the role SparkPoint has played during this time. Your insights as a SparkPoint Ambassador are extremely valuable to us. We will use the information obtained from these interviews to assess the SparkPoint program and develop plans to better support people's needs.

#### **Confidentiality Notice**

"Any information you provide will remain confidential and only be shared internally within United Way Bay Area. We may use some quotes from this interview in our marketing materials, website, or impact reports to share how SparkPoint has impacted their clients, but we won't be associating quotes with any names or identifying information."

Do you have any questions?

#### Background

- 1. How are you doing right now?
- 2. Are you currently using SparkPoint services?
  - Why or why not?
  - What barriers have you come across in accessing services?

#### **COVID-19 Impacts**

- 3. Has the financial situation of you or your family been impacted by the coronavirus lockdown?
  - How has the COVID changed your financial situation? Gotten worse? Stayed the same? Improved?
- 4. How have you responded to the recent financial challenges?
  - Used savings
  - Found new/additional work
  - Stopped loan repayments
  - Borrowed money
  - Sold an asset
  - Used credit card

#### 5. Has your health or the health of your family been impacted by COVID or the lockdown?

- Gotten worse? Stayed the same? Improved?
- Physical or mental health impacts?

#### 6. What are your primary concerns related to coronavirus at this time?

- Financial, socioeconomic, health, childcare, other
- SparkPoint Impact and Current Needs

#### 7. How has SparkPoint helped during this time?

- How has SparkPoint prepared you for a time like this?
- What has SP been done? What has been helpful? What is the impact of that?
- Can you tell me a story of when this happened?
- Have you experienced any challenges with SP? Is there something that SP could've done or could do to make things better?

#### 8. Do you think your participation in SparkPoint impacts your health in any way?

- Healthcare access?
- Mental health? (e.g. reduces stress)
- Physical health?
- Economic impact?
- Social connections or relationships?
- Other ways?

#### 9. What are you most worried about right now?

- Access to basic needs (e.g. food, medicine, shelter)
- Ability to work/earn an income
- Ability to pursue education or training program
- Childcare
- The economy / employment
- Concern about my health or my family's health

#### 10. What are you hopeful for?

#### Conclusion

#### 11. Do you have any questions?

Thank you again for taking the time to speak with me this morning (afternoon). Your time is much appreciated, and your insights are extremely valuable.